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Chapter 1
INTRODUCTION

The cry "Go west, young man' was heard by many,
especlally by farmers from the east and middle west who
were attracted by vast acreages and/or cheap land, and by
those who, for one reason or another, wished to start a
new life in the newest American frontier. Because the
Mennonite people have traditionally been farmers, several
of their number were included in the westward migration.
The Pacific District Conference was formed to draw these
of like background into closer fellowship. It has grown

through the years, slowly but steadily.
I. STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

There has been nothing written on the history of
the Pacific District Conference of the General Conference
Mennonite Church of North America since a paper by H. D.
Burkholder in 1949. It is the purpose of this paper to
expand upon that of Burkholder, bringing the conference
history up to date and attempting to present a more com-
plete early history (where possible) than was presented by
Burkholder. This paper also purposed to see reasons for
growth and/or decline of the member churches individually

and of the conference and its work.
1



helpful to ascertain a more complete picture.

IV. METHOD OF PROCEDURE

Documentary Sources

Various documentary sources were utilized in the
course of this historical investigation. All avallable
conference material was incorporated, as well as Conference

publications (Pacific District Messenger, etc.) and

unpub.lished historical sketches.

Questionnaire

A questionnalre was sent to each church in the
conference to gain needed information about the various
congregations and theilr recent developments. The question-
naire was to be filled out by the pastor or the church

historian. This questionnaire appears in the Appendix.

Interview
When necessary and possible, conference officials,
past and present, were interviewed and the information

recorded for use as it was pertinent to the study.

Personal Correspondence

Where person-to-person contacts were improbable,
personal correspondence by letter was used for clarification

and/or gaining of additional data.



V. DEFINITION OF TERMS

General Conference

The General Conference Mennonite Church of North
America is the denomination, within Mennonitism in general,
with which the Pacific District Conference is assoclated.
The headquarters are in Newton, Kansas. It is often simply
referred to as the "General Conference." Representatives
of the associated area conferences meet in "general' con-

ference once every three years.

Pacific District Conference

The geographical area including Arizona, California,
Oregon, Washington, and Idaho comprises the present Pacific
District Conference of the General Conference Mennonite
Church of North America. This conference meets annually
for business and also holds a mid-year session usually
attended primarily by pastors and laymen on various con-
ference committees. It will be referred to in this paper

many times as simply "the Conference' or the P. D. C.
VI. STATEMENT OF ORGANIZATION

In the first chapter, the reader was introduced to
the study. In the second chapter, the history of the
organization, the Pacific District Conference, was developed.
Chapter three contained information concerning the churches
once affiliated with the conference but no longer existant

or no longer members of this Conference. Chapter four
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contained information concerning the present congregations
with membership in the Pacific District Conference.

Chapter five discussed some of the involvements of the
Conference as & unit. The final chapter, number six,

. included personal observations and conclusions regarding
the growth, development, and future of the Pacific District
Conference of the General Conference Mennonite Church of

North America.



Chapter 2

THE ORGANIZATION -- THE PACIFIC DISTRICT CONFERENCE

OF THE GENERAL CONFERENCE MENNONITE CHURCH

As early as 1876, Mennonites travelled to the west
coast. ©Some settled in Oregon, some in Washington, Cali-
fornia, and Idaho. They came from Ohio, Kansas, and the
Dakotas and brought with them a well-rooted custom, the
desire to worship God regularly. Wherever they settled,
the first arrangements made were for worship and Sunday
school. These meetings found shelter in homes, school-
houses, granaries, warehouses or any other buildings of
sufficient size.

These scattered Mennbnite communities needed a
sense of unity. This was partially accomplished by a
travelling minister who made visits to each of these
isolated and scattered groups. These visits aided and
encouraged the organization of churches and the choosing
or calling of pastors. The people also needed to sense a
tie with home -- the church in the east from which they
had come. This was partially satisfied by assisting the
various boards of the General Conference with gifts for
missionary purpose. The thought of distance between east
and west was forgotten in this united work.

But there was still that longing for a closer

6



4
fellowship, both bodily and spiritually, with the Brethren
of the Faith throughout the west. A meeting arranged by
Rev. J. B. Baer, then Field Secretary (i.e. travelling
minister) of the General Conference, was set for May 25,
1896, to be held at Pratum, Oregon, and attended by the

g
organized churches of the west. There were two in Oregon,
each with a Sunday school, and one in Washington with a
Sunday school. There was also another organized Mennonite
Sunday school in Oregon. A three-day program was planned,
to be preceded by a mission festival and a children's and
young people's service on the 24th. That the people were
vitally and intensely interested in this venture of unity
is evident in that they began arriving as early as the 22nd.
We wish to quote at length concerning this first session
from an article by brother Dan Steiner:

A well prepared program was rich and brimfull with
good things to enjoy. The discussions were lively and
to the point and were well taken. The fellowship was
outstanding.

...The united choir of thirty-five voices from
Eugene, Dallas, and Pratum, under the leadership of
Dan J. Steiner, aided much in making the large

gathering a grand success....
Those were indeed "horse and buggy days." Guests

from far and near...came on their hacks and spring
wagons. The horses from a distance were turned out in

Wm. B. McCallister's pasture where there was running

lMay 25, 1896, is the date which appears on all
previous material written about P.D.C.. The translation of
the original minutes reads March 25, 1897. After some in-
vestigation into further year's minutes and a perpetual
calendar, the writer found the May 25, 1896 date correct.
The scribe was obviously human and made an error as the
minutes were written from memory a year later. This is
also the opinion of LaVernae Dick, the Mennonite historian
from Dallas, Oregon.



8

water (Pudding River). Dan Schrag's team...got away --
someone had left the gate open. The owners wandered
around for three days looking for them when they
finally located one at Harrisburg near the Santiam Ferry
on its way home, and the other a few miles from Pratum..
...the visiting ministers from the East and South
were provided for in the homes, while the local guests
from Eugene and Dallas brought blankets and pillows
along and were comfortably quartered in the Pratum
warehouse. An abundant supply of straw was at their
disposal to make up their beds on the floor.
An old cooking stove was provided and provisions
furnished wherewith they prepared their own meals.
The furniture consisted of tables made up of footboards
planed on one side and empty store boxes to sit on.
The apagtments were partitioned off with hop sacks and
burlap.

The conference was attended by representatives from
Emmanuel Mennonite Church, Enger (Pratum), Oregon; the
Mennonite Church of Irving (Eugene), Oregon; the Sunday
school group from Polk Station (near Dallas); and the First
Mennonite Church of Colfax, Washington. Also in attendance
were several brethren from the Amish Mennonite Church of
Eugene. Guests from the East who helped with the conference
for unity were laymen Peter Steiner and Jonas Amstutz and
Reverands Samuel F. Sprunger, J.J. Balzer, and Chris
Kaufman. Rev. Sprunger was elected as chalrman of the
historic meeting and Rev. Balzer served as secretary. At
this first session, young people and children had an
important place and part on the program. The secretary's

minutes revealed that nearly two days were devoted to a

Sunday School convention. Also at this first meeting

°Dan J. Steiner, "History and Organizatinn of
Pacific District Conference," Mennonite Weekly Review,
December 12, 1946.




Brother P. R. Aeschliman was elected to the office of
itinerating minister, making the Pacific District the only
one to have such a minister from its inception. "At the
first session a Program-Business Committee consisting of
three members was elected to which all the work was
assigned.”3 Then in 1904, the Resolution committee was
added and in 1908, a permanent Evangelization committee.
"Beschlossen, Dasz wir hier in dieser Konferenz vertre-
tenden Gemeinden und Glieder uns jetzt also Mennonitische
District Konferenz an der Kueste des Stillen Meeres
betrachten und mit der Allgemeinen Konfernz verbunden,
wollen wir das Reich Gottes nach Vermoegen bauen helfen."
With this resolution the Pacific District Conference of

the General Conference Mennonite Church of North America
was born, and with a purpose. "Resolved, that we in session
at this conference representing our churches and members
thereof do now declare and unite ourselves as the Mennonite
District Conference of the Pacific Coast and declare our-
selves united with the General Conference Mennonite Church
of North America in the building of God's Kingdom to the

n
best of our ability."

3p.D. King, "The Pacific District Conference,"
Mennonite Year Book and Almanac (Berne: Mennonite Book
Concern, 1925), p. 41

qRev. J.M. Galle, "Why Was the Pacific District
Conference Organized?" Sixtieth Anniversary Booklet, 1956,

p. 3
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The second conferenge was held at Eugene, Oregon,
in 1897 (?). At this conference it was decided to purchase
a book to record the minutes, thus they have been carefully
preserved until today (though in German until 1922). It
was also decided that the representation of the churches at
the conference sessions shall be one vote for every ten
members or fractional part thereof.5 This arrangement has
continued to date. At this second annual session a
treasury was created and treasurer elected to provide funds
primarily for the itineration minister.

In 1908, Conference accepted a constitution which
the Business Committee had prepared (in German). It was
revised and translated into English in 1937. According
to article three there was a three-fold purpose for the
existence of the conference: to promote fellowship among
our Mennonite churches on the Pacific Coast and the West;
to cooperate in the spreading and establishing of the
Kingdom of God in our own district; and to give a united
support to the work of the various Boards of the General
Conference Mennonite Church of North America. The
principle upon which the conference acted was found in
article four: "For other foundation can no man lay than

that i1s laid which is Jesus Christ.”7 Thus the Pacific

5

King, Jloec. cit.
6Galle, O« BlLen Du o

7H.D. Burkholder, The Story of Our Conference and
Churches (Newton: The Mennonite Press, 1951), p. 2.
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District Conference was not formed as a lawmaking body, but
an advisory one, not authorized to dictate rules of govern-

ment to the congregation.

The Conference believes firmly in the congrega-
tional form of govermment, with the local church
retaining freedom of self-determination. For this
reason, the Conference organization is democratic in
form and function. It is a deliberative body carrying
powers of recommendation but not of legislation. Its
policiles, plans, and recommendations are generally
formulated by its Executive Committee and working
committees, and presented to the Confergnce for
endorsement, modification or rejection.

It is a union for joint work, and among other
things seeks to find ways and means to assist the
scattered settlements, by advice and actual help, in
the edification and advancement of their congregations,
and therefore makes only such regulations as are
necessary to carry on this united work. In regard to
matters of faith 1t requires of these congregations
who would unite with it that they adhere to the
doctrines generally accepted by the Mennonites. By
these Mennonite doctrines we understand, baptism on
confession of faith, the abstaining from oaths, a
biblical non-resistance, the practice of a scriptural
church discipline, and the inadvisability of member-
ship in secret oath-bound societies, since we consider
thelr principles as contrary to the teachings of Christ
and the apostles.9

In 1968, the Articles of Incorporation were restated
and the By-laws amended. Restated, the ralson d'etre of
the conference was "to mutually foster our Christian life;
to be drawn closer together as we serve our Lord and
Savior Jesus Christ; and to unite ourselves more effec-

tively in our missionary efforts to bring a spiritual

8Secretary's Report of the Sixty-ninth Session of
the Pacific District Conference, 1968, p. 23.

9Burkholder, Obs QlE«s D Fa
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|lO
ministry to others."

The officers of the conference are the same as of
most organizations: the President, Vice-President, Secre-
tary and Treasurer. These four individuals plus the
chairmen of the Standing Committees form the Executive
Committee. It is to the Executive Committee that churches
now turn for help. This committee then refers them to one
of the standing committees or a special committee appointed
by them. It 1s also the Jjob of the Exeuctive Committee to
fill vacancies in any elective office which arise between
sessions; 1t prepares a budget of expenditures to be
approved by the Conference session, prepares resolutions
to be brought before the session, and appoints annually
the members of several committees.ll The standing com-
mittees are Business Administration, Home Missions,
Education, Christian Service, and Program. The Business
Administration Committee replaced the "Trustees" and is
composed of the Conference officers and five members at
large who serve five-year terms. This committee handles
all the legal matters concerning Conference properties as
well as the financial involvements, such as insurance,
buying and selling, and conference budget. The Home
Missions Committee consists of five members serving five-

year terms. This very important conference committee has

0
oecretary’s report, op. eit., p. 20,

il
Ibid., p. 26.



13

as 1ts duties:

1l. To provide spiritual nurture for church
members that live in areas with no organized churches
and for pastorless churches within the Conference
district.

2. To open new fields of labor and appoint the
necessary workers for such fields.

3. To tender assistance to settle any disputes
and give assistance to problem situations which may
exist in the churches.

4. To assit churches in securing speakers for
evangelistic services or meetings for special occasion.

5. To determine the amount and type of aid where
churches are 1in need.

6. To function as the Conference ministerial
committee, and as such shall examine and recommend
applicants for the ministry.

7. To examine churches applying for membership
in the Conference.

To raise funds for special projects and to
employ the Future Projects Reserve Fund to make grants
to special mission projects.l

The members of this significant committee serve as
the pastor's pastor in the state in which they live,
replacing the old office of conference minister.

The Christian Service Committee is the former
"Peace Committee." It consists of three members. Its
duties are:

1l. To cooperate with the General Conference Board

of Christian Service in its total program of services
including relief, rehabilitation, mutual aid, vol-

untary service, peace, mental health, and other areas
of social concern.

2. To promote such other causes and services ex-
pressing a Christian witnesi as are appropriate or are
delegated to the committee. >

The basic function of the Program Committee is to

arrange and organize the program for the annual Conference

sessions and to assist in its orderly procedure. The

121p14., p. 27. B1pia., p. 29.
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Education Committee, in cooperation with the General
Conference Board of Education and Publication, seeks to
promote Christian education in church schools and summer
Bible schools, as well as speclal Christian principles,
Mennonite principles, etc. It 1s also the responsibility

of this committee to publish The Messenger, the district

paper which publicizes the concerns and activities of the
conference.ll\L One committee is noticeably lacking: an
historical committee.

The auxiliaries of the Conference are the Mennonite
Men, The Women's Missionary Associlation, the Young Mission
Workers, and the Young People's Union. The Women's
Missionary Association is perhaps the most active of these
groups and seems to function with the minimum of problems.
The program involves various circles of women within each
church which meet regularly for fellowship and service.
The offerings of the W.M.A. are used for a collective pro-
Ject such as the support of a General Conference missionary.
Often the women do quilting and other handiwork projects
which are auctioned off at a large auction in Reedley,
California each year, in cooperation with Mennonite Central
Committee. The other three auxiliary organizations seem
to have some difficulty in coordinating programs, due

mostly to the large distances between the churches. The

children and young people are active in each of the churches

Wpi4a., p. 28.
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but Conference-wide programs have been weak. The men of
the Conference have been instrumental in projects to aid
new churches, both in man-hours and materials, and in
providing (at times) scholarships to young people from our
Conference who wished to attend Bethel College, the General
Conference college in Newton, Kansas.

Bethel College is one of the P.D.C's Conference
involvements. Like the other conferences, it has members
on the Bethel Board of Directors. The P.D.C. has two such
representatives who serve six-year terms. The Conference
also supports the work of Mennonite Biblical Seminary in
Elkhart, Indiana. From the start the Conference has been
education-minded and these involvements continue that
emphasis. The Conference 1is also active in Mennonite
Mutual Aid, which provides automobile, health, and burial
insurance for Mennonites. It also supports the projects of
Mennonite Central Committee; which are many and varied and
include voluntary service work, mission work, and disaster
aid throughout the world. The latest cooperative venture
into which the P.D.C. has entered is the Orange County,
California, Mennonite Fellowship. This is a mission-church
start in the heavily populated and rapidly growing Orange
County and is supported both by the Pacific District Con-
ference and the Southwest Mennonite Conference of the (01d)
Mennonite Church.

The Pacific District Conference has grown, through

its colorful history, from three small congregations in
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1897, to twenty-one in 1972, with a total membership of
3400 plus, and from no budget in the early years to an
annual budget of nearly $23,000 in 1972. It is this growth
(and decline) of member churches and members which we will

examine in the following two chapters.



Chapter 3
EXTINCT CHURCHES OF THE PACIFIC DISTRICT CONFERENCE

Just as there is no church without individual
believers, there is no conference organization without
member churches. The organization and structure of the
Pacific District Conference have been examined in Chapter 2.
Chapter 3 explored the P.D.C. member churches of days gone
by, churches now extinct. Chapter four studied the present
conference member-churches.

During the seventy-five years of the Conference,
there have been many changes. During the last twenty-five
years, in fact, the composition df the conference has under-
gone much change. Churches have been lost and new ones
have Jjoined.

For many of the extinct churches which were once
members ofthe Pacific District Conference, very little or
no information was readily available. For these, a mere
mention must suffice. FIor some, a more complete picture
was found.

The extinct churches are covered according to state,
beginning with Idaho, which has the largest number of

casualties.

lThe list may not be complete since the early
German minutes have not all been translated at this writing.

L
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EXTINCT IDAHO CHURCHES

Faith Mennonite Church, Filer

Filer Mennonite Church (Old Mennonite) at 115 Fifth
Street was organized on January 31, 1914, with twenty-two
charter members. David Hilty was the bishop, Samuel
Honderich the minister and Chris Snyder the deacon. Their
first building was dedicated on September 19, 1915, and
was enlarged in 1953. By 1955, the membership reached one
hundred and six.

Kpparently, some of these (0ld) Mennonites were
unhappy and wanted a different Mennonite affiliation. The
minutes of the 1954 session of the Pacific District Con-
ference report that some 0ld Mennonites in Filer were
seeking a General Conference pastor. A church was then
formed. According to the 1955 minutes of the P.D.C., this
new church joined the conference in that year. The January,

1956, Worker's Exchange (now the Pacific District Messenger)

records that Filer had Jjust purchased a church building
with pews and pulpit for $565.00.

| The church, which began in dissention, did not seem
to grow over the years. One source attributes this to
internal strife. So, we see in the 1968 minutes that Faith

Church may close her doors due to small attendance. The

QSamuel Honderich, "Faith Mennonite Church,'" The
Mennonite Encyclopedia, Vol. II (Scottdale: Mennonite
Publishing House, 1955), p. 329.
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following year's minutes contain the report that this had

happened.

Men who had served the church were W. Harley King,

Norman Schmidt, and Frank Horst.

First Mennonite Church, Caldwell

First Mennonite Church was organized on May 25, 1947,
with twenty-eight charter members.3 They had begun to meet
in a school house in ‘1946.11L Those who started the church
were of pioneer stock who had come to Caldwell-Nampa area
in 1902. There were other (0ld) Mennonite churches in the
area in 1946. Other settlers came to the area from Oregon
and Nebraska between 1941 and 1946.5

The group dedicated its building on April 18, 1948.
By 1952, the membership had only risen to thirty—four.6
Apparently, this church experienced problems from the
beginning. One of these was that even though there was
interest in having a church, few cared to support it. Also,
the congregation was almost too small to support the
operation of a church. Another problem which could not be
overcome was that one family became interested in

"Armstrongism," and others were attracted by the Jehovah

SMenno H. Kliewer, "First Mennonite Church," The
Mennonite Encyclopedia, Vol. 1 (Scottdale: Mennonite
Publishing House, 1955), p. 490.

4LaVernae Dick, personal conversation with the
author.

SMenno H. Kliewer, op. cit.  OTbid.
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Witnesses and other cults in the area.7 These things,
combined with the lack of employment in the area, kept the
congregation small. In 1962, the few people who were left
"decided to disband and find spiritual fellowship with
other churches in town."

Pastors and leaders of the church were Menno
Kliewer, 1947-1954; Lyman Sprunger, 1954-1956; and Norman
Schmidt, 1956-1958. From August, 1958 to 1961 there was
no permanent pastor. The church was served by students
from Northwest Nazarene College in Nampa and Mr. Enoch
Zimmerman from Salem, Oreon. Rev. Kliewer returned again
in 1961 (though holding another full-time job) and served

9

until the church closed its doors in 1962.

Bethel Mennonite Church, DuBois

In 1913-1915 a sizeable number of families came to
Central Idaho and settled in the area near DuBois. They
came because other Mennonite settlements were becoming
crowded and land was expensive. Idaho offered level land
which was available for homestead in 160 or 320 acre tracts.
Some came expecting to dry-farm; others came with the
cherished hope that irrigation water would become avail-

able.

"La Vernae Dick, ofis €lt.

8Mrs. Menno Kliewer, personal correspondence with
the author.

i s I
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Perhaps the real driving force in back of
obtaining this free land and resettlement was the
desire to have enough land to continue farming as
means of obtalning a livelihood and the opportunity
to Bring up a young family in the accustomed
Mennonite tradition.t

The life they found was unbelievably difficult
from the beginning. The first problem was grubbing the
sage brush from the land in order to plant the crops.

Naturally, these people did not shirk from gather-
ing together for worship and study. It appears that a
Sunday School was begun first, as the'earliest records to
be found were the Sunday School minutes of January 3, 1915.
The first church records are dated January 1, 1916. The
settlers gathered first in homes, then in the local school.
They were served by pastors from the Aberdeen, Idaho,
church and Rev. Aeschliman from Colfax, Washington. They
never did have a permanent pastor, yet seemed to have had
a "cohesive oneness."

German was the language used, both in the home and
in the church. Perhaps because of this, these settlers
never mixed socially with the English speaking people among
whom they lived and worked.

The settlement grew and so did the Sunday School.

In 1916, the attendance ran over one hundred regularly.,

10paron J. Epp, "Portions of the history of the
Bethel Mennonite Church of DuBois, Idaho: The DutchFlats
of DuBois, 1913-1920," 1972, p. 4. .All information on the
Bethel Church is drawn from this recently completed history
by Rev. Epp.
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with a high of one hundred and forty-four. The group was
very missions-minded, and records indicate that often as
much as half of their offering was given to missions.

The church joined the Pacific District Conference
in 1916 and the General Conference in 1917. By 1918, some
of the people had begun moving away -- back to their orig-
inal homes or into Aberdeen or on to California. Crops
were failing and money was scarce. The DuBois sojourn was

over by .1920.

Minidoka, Idaho

Minidoka is a community in Bouth-central Idaho,
where there was apparently a Mennonite settlement similar
to that at DuBois. The only information to be found to
this date on Mennonite church there is a reference in the
Pacific District Conference Minutes of 1925 to the growing
mission work in Minidoka. There is no result of that work

today.

Emmanuel Mennonite Church, Aberdeen

During the ministry of Rev. John Baer at the Salem
Mennonite (now First) Church in Aberdeen (1909-1911), non-
irrigation land west of Aberdeen was opened for home-
steading. Many more people, including Mennonites, came to
try their hand at dry farming. The Emmanuel Mennonite

Church was organized on April 22, 1912, to care for the
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spiritual needs of these people. The church was also
referred to as the "Homestead" church.l2 It was under the
leadership of Elder Jacob Hege, who had withdrawn from
First Church. The congregation constructed a building four
miles southwest of tow.n.13

During Rev. Baer's ministry at First Mennonite
Church in Aberdeen, the English language gained a strong
foothold. Because of a preference for the use of the
German language, a number of members left First and joilned
the newly-organized Emmanuel Church.14

Elder Hege was succeeded by Rev. Leonard Dirks.
After his death, the entire burden of the church rested
upon Rev. John Toevs, who himself was not in good health.
For this reason the Emmanuel Church was dissolved early in
1929.15 At that time it had seventy-five members.l6 An
invitation was extended by the First Church to the Emmanuel
brethren and in the fall of 1929, Rev. Toevs, with several
of his congregation, Jjoined First Church. Most of the

remaining members soon followed suit. Rev. Toevs often

assi ted the pastor at First, until he died in 1934.

lltthe History of the First Mennonite Church," as
compiled for the fiftieth anniversary in 1957, p. 2.

12Frank Wenger, "Emmanuel Church," The Mennonite
Encyelopedia, Vol. 1II, p. 203.

13op. eits
Ypia.  B1pvid., p. 5.

16Frank Wengef, ODPw - CL T 5
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Thus, the German-speaking group, some of whom had
left First Church several years earlier, now were united
with the brethren of First Mennonite Church in Aberdeen,
a church which continues today, striving to meet the
spiritual needs of the Mennonite people in the Aberdeen

area.

EXTINCT OREGON CHURCHES

Grace Mennonite Church, Albany

Grace Church was organized on June 29, 1931 under
the leadership of J. M. Franz, P. R. Aeschliman, and A. J.
Neuenschwander.17 The history of the church is rather
stormy. According to one observer, much of the problem lay
in the men who were called as pastors to this congregation.
They were often critical of the General Conference and
church institutions. When the second pastor left, he urged
the congregation to disband and about one third of the
people left the church. The third pastor was also anti-
conference and came declaring that theprice of his coming
was that the church withdraw from the conference. He was
given three months to leave. There was then quite a suc-
cession of short-term pastors. All of this produced a great
deal of tension, critical attitude, discouragement and

11tle growhh. 27

17p, A. Kliewer, "Grace Mennonite Church," Mennonite
Encyclopedia, vol. IIL,p. 560.

l8Paul N. Réth, in personal conversation with the
author, November, 1972.
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Pastors who had served the congregation until 1955
were W. Harley King, William Augsburger, J. M.Franz, P. A.
Kliewer, Henry Dalke, E. J. Peters, and Herbert King. The
church was not a total dismal failure, as evidenced in the

Mennonite EnbyclOpedia, which records that in 1954, the

congfegation was 117 and was meeting in a former Presby-
terian church.l9
At the Home Missions Committee meeting of November
12, 1968, it was noted that the Grace Mennonite congregation
wished to disband. The group had been steadily losing
members and was beset with internal strife. The last
worship service was held on November 10, 1968. Early in
1969, Rev. Clyde Dirks died, leaving the group without
leadership. ©Some investigation was made by the Conference
with regard to a combined effort with the (0ld) Mennonite
Church at Corvallis, since a number of Grace members were

gttending there. No action was taken, and the group went

their own separate ways to find a church home.

Zion's Church, Polk Station (near Dallas)

This church is extinct only because all of its
members moved into Dallas and formed the Grace Mennonite
Church. For the story, see the history of Grace Mennonite

Church, Chapter 4, page

i
9P. A. Kliewer, op. cit.
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Schrag Church, Irving (now Eugene)

This church is extinct only because the entire
congregation migrated to Adams County, Washington. The
present Menno Mennonite Church at Ritzville, Washington,
is the former Schrag congregation. See Menno history in

Chapter 4, page

EXTINCT CALIFORNIA CHURCHES

Escondido

The Escondido Church was in San Diego County,
California. It's first meeting house was dedicated on
October 29, 1911, with M. M. Horsch of Upland presiding.
The congregation was officlally organized with nineteen
charter members in the spring of 1912. Shortly after its
organization a number of families moved away and the
attendance began to decline. In 1930, the Sunday School
was discontinued and worship was carried on only once a
month. Then in 1934, the congregation was dissolved. Men
who had pastored the church were Herman Janzen, H. H.

20
Adrian, and D. D. Voth.

FPirst Mennonite Church, Woodlake

Woodlake was a Mennonite settlement in the eastern
part of the San Joaquin Valley in central California.

"Before World War I numerous Mennonites became stockholders

20g. D. Burkholder, "Escondido," The Mennonite
Encyclopedia, Vol. II, p. 249.
p
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of the Woodlake Citrus Development Co., some of whom never

nel However, settlers did move from

moved to Woodlake.
Reedley and Upland. They grew oranges.

In 1915, H. A. Bachman came to Woodlake and on
June 13 of that year the First Mennonite Church was
organized with eighteen charter members. They met in a
local school.

The venture was short-lived, for reasons unknown to
this author. After being served by Rev. F. J. Isaak (1916-
1918) and J. J. Englebrect (1918-1919), the Reedley church
provided occasional leadership. The last meeting of the
First Mennonite Church of Woodlake was held on January 20,
1929, attended by three families. Mennonites in the area
began attending in Reedley. By 1953, there were only three

families who had once belonged to the church living in the

area.

First Mennonite Church, Shafter

This church had its beginnings with the migration
‘of Mennonites to the area in .19.18—.19.19.22 This was ssimu-
lated by H. J. Krehbiel of Reedley. Meetings were held in
homes, in the Santa Fe school, and later in a small church
erected on Scaroni Avenue. The first leader was Herman

Janzen.

2lgornelius Krahn, "Woodlake Mennonite Settlement
and Church," The Mennonite Encyclopedia, Vol. IV, p. 977.

22John Bartel, "Shafter," The Mennonite Encyclopedia
Vol. IV, p. 509.
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When Janzen and some families moved away, those
remaining joined with other denominatiaons, but when Krehbiel
returned in 1935, the congregation was reorganized. They
built a new church in 1937, and in 1957 had fifty-six
members pastored by Ramon H. Jantz.

The congregation grew little. Its final service
was held December 27, 1964, after which it merged with the

Shafter Mennonite Brethren Church.23

Dos Palos

In the Pacific District Conference Minutes for 1931
it was récordéd that the conference welcomed the church at
Dos Palos into its fellowship. It further described Dos
Palos as a new irrigation project about ninety miles north-
west from Reedley. There were about thirty Mennonite
families residing there. Materials for a church building
were given to them by a land company. The Sunday School
that year had an attendance of ninety and the church of
about one hundred. The congregation had a regular pastor
and received aid from both the General Conference and the
Pacific District Confersnce. Just when and why the church
discontinued services has not yet been learned by this

2L

author.

23Minutes of the Pacific District Conference Session,

1965, p. 19.

24Dos Palos and other early extinct churches were
treated in a thesis done by Gordon R. Dyck at Mennonite
Biblical Seminary several years ago. The writer has been
unable to secure it at this writing.
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Bethel Mennonite Church, Winton

The Home Missions Committee began work in the Winton
area in 1938, under the leadership of D. B. Hess. The
Bethel Church was organized in May of 1940, through the
Home Missions Committee of the General Conference and the
Evangelization Committee of the Pacific District.25 There
were thirty charter members, under the leadership of Dillman
B. Hess. In 1941, J. P.Glanzer replaced Hess. The congre-
gation woréhipped in the "Koehn church" building, so named
for Joel Koehn who was the first pastor to serve the
Mennonite community there in 1920.

By 1935, the congregation had grown to only fifty-
two. In 1966, the congregation became a part of a new
United Mennonite Church in Atwater, which is at present a

26

member of Pacific District Conference.

Second Mennonite Church, Paso Robles

Through the years, this church was also known as
San Marcus Mennonite Church and then Second Mennonite Church
and then finally Willow Creek Mennonite Church. It was the
result of a division in the original San Marcus group which
lived in the greater Paso Robles area (see First Mennonite
Church, Paso Robles, chapter 4, p. ). It was organized

: 2
in the spring of 1904 with thirty-nine charter members. .

2DMyron D. Hilty, "Bethel Mennonite Church," The
Mennonite Encyclopedia, Vol. I, p. 313.

26Minutes of the Pacific District Conference Session,
1966, B T

2
7H. D. Burkholder, p. 42.
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F. F. Jantzen was chosen as their first elder.
Sunday School and worship services were held in

the San Marcus church, near Chimney Rock, until the

fall of 1909 when a number of families moved to

Willow Creek, southwest of Paso Robles. After this

the congregation met a}ternately a? t@e Sgg Marcus

church and at the Summit School building.

In the spring of 1928, the San Marcus church was
dismantled and moved to Willaew Creek.

Early in the 1life of this church there were difficult
losses. Three families moved to Aberdeen, Idaho; one family
joined the "Apostles;" and Rev. A. J. Wiebe died in 1922.

It was then decided to have only one pasto and aid him
financially.29 In 1922, the sanctuary was enlarged. It

was enlarged again in 1935, the year in which it was deicded
to have both an English and German sermon each Sunday.

Later this was cut to but one German service per month.3o

In 1935, D. D. Schultz came to help F. F. Jantzen
with thebpreaching. (He was Janzten's son-in-law). In
1946, Jantzen resigned after serving for forty-two years.
H8 was succeeded by Rev. W. Harley King. During his
ministry the church received its state charter, dug a well,

added a rest room with running water and a thirty-by-forty

foot annex for fellowship and Sunday School. Rev. King

resigned in 1952. He was followed by Rev. Edward Toews,

281pbiq.

29Mrs. Louis Bergman, an untitled article on the
history of First Mennonite Church, with emphasis on Willow
Creek Church. No date. pages not numbered.

B rnad,



3L

Rudolph Towes, M J. Galle, J. R. Duerksen, and Benno
Teovs.31

On a January morning in 1966, telephone calls
spread the word that the Willow Creek Church was on fire.
The organ . and piano were saved, but the bullding and most
of its contents were lost. After numerous meetings it was
decided to merge with First Mennonite Church of Paso Robles
rather than rebuild. This merger was carried out in

32
September of 1966.

EXTINCT WASHINGTON CHURCHES

First Mennonite Church, Deer Park

Deer Park was a community near Newport, in north-
eastern Washington. Pacific District Conference Home
Missions work was begun there in 1936-1937. The 1937
minutes record a group here as a home missions church. The
1938 minutes report that the Deer Park group was organized
as a church, with M. J. Galle as pastor. In 1939, this
church was accepted into the Pacific District Conference.
It had, at that time, twenty-six members. The church was
short-lived. It folded in 1943-44 because most of the
families moved, some to Lynden (in Western Washington),
some to Dallas, Oregon, and some to Newport, just a few
miles away. Because today the area is one of the most

economically handicapped in the state, 1t is not difficult

Bl1pa4. 327p14.
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to understand thi: migration away from it.

Salem Mennonite Church, Ruff

Ruff is only a few miles away from the present
Menno Mennonite Church at Ritzville. Those several miles
were a transportation problem in the early 1900's, and
when many Mennonite settlers began locating as far away as
Ruff andTiflis, they decided to organize their own church.
This was done in 1910. In 1911, they received fifteen new
members by baptism. In 1918, they erected a church
building, having met previously in the Ruff and Tiflis
schools. In 1930 the area was caught in the Great Depres-
sion and héd a serious crop failure. They ceased using the
building. In 1934, the congregation dissolved and joined

33

the Menno cbngregation.

Mennonite Country Church, Monroe

Like other churches in the Conference, Monroe
Country Church was the result of a deep split. On June 14,
1944, twenty-one members of the First Mennonite Church with-
drew and signed theilr names on the charter of Mennonite
Country Church. The movement was led by Rev. John L.
McNabb, Mrs. Cara Scott and Lloyd Redden. Rev. McNabb
was followed by John Breedlove and Alfred Schwartz. The

congregation became a member of the Pacific District

33P. C. Jantz, "History of the Menno Mennonite
Church," (a paper written for the church, c. 1950), pages
not numbered.
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Conference in June, 1945. In 1946 a building was con-
structed. |

The congregation, like others of the Conference,
was missions minded and the Women's Missionary Soclety was
the most active auxiliary. However, due to insufficient
growth, the representatives of First Church and Country
Church met with the intent of merger. After a series of
meetings, the merger took place in February, 1971. The new

congregation 1s the Monroe Community Chape.l.34

Onecho Mennonite Church, Colfax

The first Mennonites came to the Colfax area in
1886. They were of Swiss origin. When they arrived, there
was a fourteen-year-old Methodist work which was dolng
poorly. The Mennonite colony grew rapidly in the following
years. In 1893, Paul R.Aeschliman returned from Kansas
with his‘bride and, with the help of J. B. Baer, of the
General Conference, formed the First Mennonite Church.
There were twenty-four charter members. Aeschliman became
the pastor, a position which paidino salary. He served in
that capacity for forty-four years.

The group built its first church building in 1895.
The second one was constructed in 1926, debt free. In 1937,
a parsonage was constructed, and in 1964 extensive remodeling

and construction of a new education bulilding were finished.

34Homer Flickinger, in response to the author's
questionnaire.

Portiand Center Library
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W. Harley King succeeded Rev. Aeschliman in 1936.
The congregation continued to increase. In 1943, there
were one hundred and sixteen active members and an addition-
al forty Methodists. The Mennonites and Methodists had
been meeting together from the beginning, with a sermon by
a Methodist pastor once a month. W. Harley King was
followed by P. D. Unruh in 1946.3° He pastored until 1961,
at which time Rev. Charles Lyman became the pastor.

It was at this point that a very noticeable change
became evident in the congregation. The church, which, in
1896, was one of the three founders and initial members of
the Pacific District Conference, began to turn against it.
Some who were there at the time have said that Rev. Lyman
came only on the condition that the Onecho Mennonite Church
(as it was then called) would leave the conference. This
was accomplished in 1962, when the Onecho church withdrew
from both the Pacific District Conference and the General
Conference. The church today is the Onecho Bible Church
and has no Mennonite affiliation nor. distictives.

Since 1962, the membership and attendance have
increased by 30 per cent. The support of missions has

increased 106 per cent, "excluding the church farm; with

35Dwight Ensley, "History," from an article in the
local Colfax newspaper, written on the occasion of the
fiftieth anniversary in 1943.
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the church farm included, the increase would be 263 per
cent.”36 The large addition came in 1964, though plans
were begun before 1962. Additional improvements are now
being contemplated. The church is now affiliated with the
National Association of Evangelicals and the Northwest
Independent Church Extension.37 They are pastored by Rev.
Shin.

The cause (or causes) of the unrest which led to
withdrawing from the Mennonite church appear to have begun
with the leadership, both pastoral and lay, and to have
been most prevalent among the younger members. In 1962,
the Onecho church presented a nine-page grievance letter
to the P. D. C. calling for a united conference condemnation
of the "liberal" tendencies which the Onecho group felt the
General Conference was taking, as found in some articles
printed in the Mennonite. These tendencies included,
leaning toward the National and World Council of Churches
and placing too much emphasis upon social and political
concerns. Both of these they linked with a theistic
communism, and so had visions of a communist take-over
through the world-church organization. The other grievance
was that "too much conference time, money, and effort was

being spent on non-spiritual business at the expense of

36Mrs. Vera Rogers, Clerk of Onecho Bible Church,
in response to the author's questionnaire.

37Ibid.
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the cause of the church which is to promote the Gospel
message...”38 This statement was not defined in the
grievance letter.

The current president of the Pacific District
Conference, who was also active at that time, views the
problem as the influence of "Scofield dispensationalism"
and "ultra-fundamentalism" which characterized the:Bible
Institute movement.39 This led to the feeling that "if you
do not subscribe to our point of view, then what we have
said about the conference is true.”

Impatient and unhappy with the Pacific District
Conference's failure to take immediate action upon its
proposed resolution, the Onecho Mennonite Church withdrew
from the Conference. Her fears at the time have not come
to pass over the years. But, whether her action was
"right" or "wrong" is now of little significance. The
church is growing and continues to preach Christ and Him
crucified. It is that message which He honors and which

gives new life to the sinner. He is in the work there

today.

CONCLUSION

Were one to stop the history of the conference with

38Letter from the Onecho congregation to PeDels,
1862, Bs T

39Paul N. Roth, in personal conversation with the
author, November, 1972.
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these pages, the story of the Pacific District Conference

would be one of dismal failure. However, any of those

who were members of one of the extinct churches are now

members of one of the existing and active churches. These

churches are the subject of the next chapter.



Chapter 4
PRESENT-DAY MEMBER CHURCHES
The Oregon Churches

We begin this chapter with the Oregon churches
because it was in Oregon that the Pacific District Confer-
ence had its beginning, and 1t is in Oregon that the
conference is legally incorporated. We shall follow the
pattern of the oldest church to the youngest within each

state group.

Emmanuel Mennonite Church, Salem

The famllies which began this church were of Swiss
origin. In the late 1870's, a number of families left Ohio
for the Willamette Valley in Oregon. The first of these to
settle in the Silverton area were John Lichty and Chris
Geigers, John Ulrich Beers, John Gerbers, the Bierys and
Steffens, Joshua Shutter, and Peter Herr.l Like many
Mennonite groups, they first met in homes for worship.
Later they worshipped with a small group of German Reformed
people in a nearby church. '"Before they could officially

organize into a church, there was already a split among

l'gistory of the Emmanuel Mennonite Church, "
included in the church's Seventy-fifth Anniversary booklet,
1965, pages not numbered.

37
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them.”2 The more conservative objected to having a Sunday
School, so they separated and bulilt a church near the ceme-
tery. This group was known as the C. B. Steiner church or
the "cemetery'" church, and was short-lived. It disbanded
in 1911.3 Some returned to the original group while others
went elsewhere in Oregon.

In the fall of 1889, Rev. John Rich moved from
Alsace, France, to Salem, Oregon. In that year, he was
granted use of the abandoned Reformed church and began
holding monthly services, and then bi-monthly, walking the
ten miles from Salem to Pratum.4 In 1890, Rev. J. B. Baer,
the traveling minister for the Genéral Confersnce, helped
the more progressive group organize as the Waldo Hills.
Mennonite Church, with thirty-two charter members. Later,
the name was changed to Emmanuel Mennonite Church. While
there was a post office there, the area was known as Pratum.
Today it is part of Salem. John Rich continued to serve
the church until 1894, when he beczme unhappy with his
baptism and joined with the German Baptist church at Salen.
From a translation of thz Church Journal, a September, 1894,
entry reads: "Elder John Rich was rebaptized by Pastor
Kliewer in Salem in September, 1894. He was baptized upon

confession of falth and a second baptism won't make him any

°La Vernae J. Dick, "Early Mennonites inOregon"

(unpublished Master's Thesis,Oregon College of Education,
1972), p. 22.

3Ibid. uAnniversary Booklet, op. cit.
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holier. Matthew 28:19-20.... We should stay by the Word
of the Holy Bible and John Rich is now no longer recognized
as a member and deacon of our church.”5 Several months later
a member of the congregation, Peter J. Gerig, Jr., was
called as pastor. He accepted and was ordained on December
16, 1894, by Jacob R. Schrag of Eugene, Oregon.

"Gerig was the first of three ministers to serve
the congregation for fifteen consecutive years.”6 During
his ministry, the membership doubled, making necessary
larger facilities. In 1304, on an acre of ground donated
by William Rothe, Sr., a building was erected. This
building was remodeled and enlarged in 1940. Following
Rev. Gerig's death, Rev. S. S. Baumgartner of Kansas became
the pastor in March of 1910. He ministered until 1925.
Then in April, 1925, Rev. J. M. Franz "began a ministry
that saw the membership nearly double once again.”7 During
his ministry, the facllities were enlarged twice, once in
1930 with a basement, a furnace, and electric lights, and
again in 1940, with ten new classrooms, a balcony, and
enlarged sanctuary. In June of 1950, Rev. Franz accepted

a call to Grace Mennonite Church in Albany.

5La Vernae J. Dick, "The Assimilation of American

Culture by Early Dallas, Oregon, Mennonites" (a term paper
while at Oregon College of Education, 1971), p. 21.

6y, D. Burkholder, The Stdry of Our Conference and
Churches (North Newton: The Mennonite Press, 1951), p. o.

7Anniversary Booklet
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Other pastors who have served Emmanuel are Daniel
J. Unruh,kl940~l943; John R. Turnbull, 1943-1944; Wilbert
A. Regier, 1944-1952; Frank Harder, 1953-1957; and Allan R.
Tschiegg, 1953—1972.8 During the ministry of Rev. Tschiegg,
Emmanuel experienced another period of growth. This saw
the construction of a new education complex in 1964, and a
new sanctuary in 1970.9

Emmanuel Mennonite Church, one of the three which
organized the Pacific District Conference, though a rural
church which has had slow, but steady growth, looks forward
to a continuation in the future. The Pratum area 1s growing
with people getting out into the country a short distance
from Salem. The congregation is missions-minded and has
seen a number of men and women go into the ministry and
mission fields during its history -- a half dozmen in the
past few years. The present mmemberdip of the church is

two hundred and sixty-six.lo

Grace Mennonite Church, Dallas

Grace Mennonite Church grew out of the Zion
Mennonite church which was officially organized in 1896, as
a country church about three miles northeast of Dallas, in

the area known as Polk Station. There had been Mennonites

8Ibid.
9Mrs. Grover Welty in response to autior's question-
naire.

lOMinutes of the Pacific District Conference Session,
June, 1972, p. 18.
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in the area as early as 1882, and others came to live in
the Mennonite community. Such were the Russian immigrants
who came about 1890, from other parts of the United States
and Canada, having been part of some eighteen thousand
Mennonites who left the Ukraine in the 1870's. However,
in 1891, most of tho.e earlier Mennonites in Dallas dis-
mantled their church and moved to Lane County, Oregon, where
they remained a few years before moving to Ritzville,
Washington. About this time, as more and more Russian
immigrant Mennonites arrived in the area, they decided to
hold a Sunday School at the Polk Station. It was this
group that was represented at the first Pacific District
meeting in 1896. The few Mennonite Brethren (a different
denomination of Mennonites) who remained in the area joined
them in worshipping at Polk Station. They had no minister
so the men took turns reading sermons from two sermon books%
They used high German for their services and usually spoke
low German in the home.

The formal organization of the Zion Mennonite
Church took place following the formation of the Pacific
District Conference in May of 1896. 1In 1897, Isaac Dyck
donated a plece of property so that a church could be
erected. In 1898, the church was incorporated. It was in

1898 that H. A. Bachman assumed the pastoral respdnsibilities

s vernae 7. Dick, "A History of the Grace
Mennonite Church! (Written for the seventy-fifth annivers-

ary, 1971,) p. 2.
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following Peter Gerig. Because transportation to the
church was difficult (it was either on foot or horse-back)
a fellowship meal was sometimes held following church and
Sunday School, and then a prayer meeting was held in the
afternoon.13

Bachman ministered until 1900, wheni:he became
minister at large for the Pacific District Conference.
After an unsuccessful try at returning to laymen-read
sermons, Isaac Dyck (himself a layman) was ordained in 1903,
and served as pastor until the summer of 1908.14 He was
followed from 1909 to 1919 by John P. Neufelt. In 1918,
after serious deliberation (and some encouragement by a
local vigilante committee), the congregation voted to hold
the worship services in English, though they still conducted
the business meetings in German.l5 (German speaking people
who did not mix well socially were not held in high esteem
by many Americans at this time, the last years of World
War I). Rev. Berhard Janzen from Oklahoma served the church
untii 1923, when Rev. John Franz from Bloomfield, Montana,
was called. He left in 1926 to take a charge at Pratum. In

the early 1900's, many of the Mennonites were moving from

the country into the city. In 1928, the Pacific District

12Rericholder, op. cit., p. 9

1
3Dick, op. cit., p. 3.

14Ibid.; Burkholder gives 12/21/04 as Dyck's
ordination and 1907 as his resignation.

151bid., p. 4.
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Conference and the General Conference suggested that the
church move its facilities into Dallas. The congregation
was split, but a trial period of six months was set upon.
The "fleece” was ten new members in that time. They were
gained, and the church stayed. Thelr services were con-
ducted in the Adventist church which burned later that year.
Not all of the members were happy about the move, and some
returned to the country. However, when they could not get
a pastor, they decided to reunite with the group meeting
in town (about 1933 or 1934).

The group meeting in town could not afford to change
the incorporation papers of the Zion Mennonite Church to a
new church in town, so they reorganized under a new name
-~ Grace Mennonite ~- and bought an old house from the city
for $300.00 with $3.00 monthly payments. B. M. Beargan was
called to serve as pastor.l He was followed by H. E.
Widmer, under whose ministry a basement auditorium was built.
at 207 Jefferson Street.l7 He resigned in 1939. That year
the Lord sent Homer Leisy, a Salem man with a flourishing
drapery business. He sold the business, and on June 18,
1939, assumed charge of the Grace congregation.l8 It was
during the years of Leisy's ministry that Grace Mennonite
Church began to grow-l9 In 1937, the house in which they

had been worshipping was torn down and the lumber used for

l6Ibid. 17Burkholder, op. cit., p. 1lO.

l8Ibid. l9Dic.k;, op. cit., p. 5
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a new church. Rev. Leisy died in June, 1948. Those who
followed him were John Hiebert, Jacob J. Regier, Earl M.
Peterson, John M. Franz, and H. D. Burkholder. Rev.
Burkholder served five years and was followed by W. J.
Flickinger. A split developed in the congregation, and in
1965, Rev. Flickinger and some of the members left Grace
Church. Between him and Olin Krehbiel, who came in 1966,
the church was served by J. J. Esau and J. R. Duerkson.

The present pastor is Rev. Ted Fast, a former missionary in
India.

In 1959, the first part of the present physical
plant on Ellendale Road was completed. The new sanctuary
was completed and dedicated in the fall of 1967.20 The
present membership 1s two hundred and ninty-seven, a figure
which has remained steady for the past few years.

The congregation of Grace Mennonite Church (formerly
Zion) has weathered a couple severe storms in its history
and remains faithful to her Lord. While there has been
little growth for several years, and whlle some view the
future rather pessimistically, there appears to be good
potential and new life within the church. God has been
merciful in the past and will continue to be so in the

future.

20Inid., pp. 5-6.

2lyinutes of the Pacific Distict Conference Session
June, 1972, p. 18.



45

Calvary Mennonite Church, Aurora

The Calvary Mennonite Church began on May 31, 1944,
when a group of (01d) Mennonites and one of the more pro-
gressive pastors of thelr church met to discuss association
with a different church organization.22 On June 6, the
group recelved an invitation to join the General Conference
Mennonite Church. A week later, a committee was chosen to
investigate possible church sites, and Paul N. Roth was
chosen as pastor of the group. On June 25, 1944, the first
regular Sunday service was held in the former Barlow
Christian Church, at Barlow, Oregon.23 On August 6, the
Calvary Mennonite Church was officlally organized with
fifty-two charter members, including one received by baptism.
The group decided to buy the Christian Church for a total
of $500.00, which included the piano and sang books,and in
August the first $100.00 was paid.g4

The church has enjoyed continual and steady growth
from 1ts beginning, as wiltnessed by thelr many building pro-
grams. Already in December of 1945, it was decided to
lengthen the church and put a basement under it. In
January of 1946, the foyer and balcony were added in front

and the basement below. In August of 1951, rest rooms and

2
Church Historical Records, pages not numbered.

23”Calvary Church History", as complied for
dedication of new church building in 1972, one page.

24 1pig.
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a pastor's study were added to the back of the church. In
April of 1957, the group purchased a parsonage and two
additional lots adjacent to the church. Just a year later,
they began building a new sanctuary bullding as an addition
to the old building. This was completed in November, 1958.
Then, in the summer of 1967, the congregation realized that
the present facilities were too small once again and
addition was 1mpossible, so on July 27, four acres of land,
on Aurora-Lone Elder Road, were purchased from Joe Hersh-
berger for $9,000.00. A year later an architect was retained
for the new building. The new faclility was dedicated on
April 30, 1972.25 As an example of the constant, steady
grbwth, we have found membership figures as follows: In
December, 1954 (after ten years) the membership was one
hundred and thirty-eight, up eighty-six from the beginning.
The next ten years showed a gain of twenty, bringing it to
one hundred and fifty-eight. The following year it was up
to one hundred and sixty-five, and in 1967, when it was
decided the new church was needed, the membership was at
one hundred and ninty-three. A year later it was two
hundred and three, up another ten members. In 1969, the
membership was two hundred and sixteen, and today it stands
just above two hundred and forty.20 Average Sunday attend-
ance runs very close to that number, with many guests each

week.

251pi4.

6Church Historical Records.
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As was the case in many Mennonite churches, the
pastor's salary was below substance level. For instance,
in the beginning, Rev. Roth's support was an offering taken
once a month. Then in 1951, he received $2,000.00. The
salary was raised $800.00 in 1954. The figures themselves
are unimportant, but the idea of a fully supported pastor
did not see frultion until after the new church was dedi-
cated in 1972.

Calvary Mennonlte Church has been served by rela-
tively few pastors during its twenty-eight year history.
Paul Roth served until 1956, when he accepted a call to
Carlock, Illinois. Rev. Nobel Sack was the interim pastor
until Rev; Henry D. Penner became the pastor in May of 1957.
In October of 1959, Rev. Penner left and Dr. Sack again
served as interim. On June 5, 1960, the congregation voted
to call the present pastor, Harry Howard.27 Then, in 1967,
Rick Gydesen was called as youth pastor. He later went
into Youth For Christ work.

Though the church was organized in 1944, it did not
adopt a constitution until January of 1949, and was not
incorporated until the fall of 1958.29

The congregation of Calvary Mennonite church has

remained a close, though growing, family through the years.

27Ca.lvary Church History, compiled.
28

Church Historical Records
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There have been some difficult times as there are in most
situations where people are involved. The only real problem
experienced within the congregation has been some friction
over whether to build bigger facilities or parent a new
church when the attendance made the faciliites too small

in 1967. The church also experienced a degree of the
charismatic movement at this time. There was neither open
rejection nor acceptance, and those involved left the
fellowship quietly.

One of the real unifying factors of the congregation
has been music. There has been a cholr from the beginning.
Then in 1961, a junior choir was organized, and in 1969,
the teen choir took shape.3o These choirs not only sing at
the regular services, but at special Christmas and Easter
services and services i1n other churches and rest homes, etc.
At present, these choirs involve about fifty people from
the young to the old. Another unifying factor of the con-
gregation has been its emphasis on family involvement. All
the congregation's activities are planned so that the whole
family is involved and may come and go as a unit. Besides
the naormal auxiliary organizations (youth groups, ladies
missionary groups, and men's fellowship), the church has
added a tape ministry, which gets tapes of the services into
the homes of shut-ins, both members and friends of the

congregation.

301piq.
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With the unity and programs which now exist and the
rapidly growing bedroom community which 1s springing up

around the church, the future of Calvary Mennonite Church

looks rosy.

Alberta Community Mennonite Church, Portland

The Alberta church (so named for the area of Port-
land in which it is located) came about as a joint venture
of the Pacific District Conference and the General Confer-
ence. The agreement was that the Pacific District would
maintain the work if the Home Missions Board of the General
Conference would provide a worker for the field or contri-
bute as their funds would permit. This was in 1927.31 The
woman who was sent to Portland in the summer of 1928 to
carry on this work was Miss Catherine Niswander. She had
had fourteen years of experience in the Mennonite Mission
in Chicago, so was well qualified for this wor.k.32

Miss Niswander started Sunday School classes in a
store building at N.E. 26th and Alberta Streets. The first
services were held there on December 16, 1928, and regular
meetings until the following summer, when their first church
building became available.33 In 1931, the church joined
the Pacific District Conferencé and on June 29 of that year

was officially organized as the Alberta Community Church,

3lBurkholder, p. 12

32Ipid., p. 13  331bid.
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with ten charter members. These were: Lena Leisy,
Catherine Niswander, Mr. and Mrs. William S. Bartel, Mrs.
C. P. Zook, Edna May Gunn, Louise Betty Gunn, Wilma Krug,
Florence Hicks, and Cora Peck.34

In June, 1939, the Home Missions Board purchased
the building in which the group had been meeting, and during
the summer the members excavated the basement and re-
decorated the building. The building was dedicated to God
for worship and service on September 25, 1939.35

Pastors serving the church were Rev. Day, a Baptist
minister, 1930-1935 (supply); Rev. Al<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>